On the same lode and close to the main road is LLYWERNOG (733809) which now provides the site of the recently opened Mining and Folk Museum. Lewis Morris leased a mine of this name in 1756, probably for prospecting purposes only, and in 1810 the Cardiganshire historian S. R. Meyrick*observed that two mines called Llywernog were then operating in the vale, one by Sir Thomas Bonsall and the other by William Poole. He went on to say that' they were discovered about 40 years ago but were so overpowered by water that they could not be worked. However an engine [waterwheel] has been erected on each mine and the water cleared off. They consist of lead ore ; quartz and black jack or zink ore '. Poole's mine is apparently the one later known as Llywernog whilst Bonsall's working probably equates with Powell mine across the road. Bonsall's operations consisted of deep opencuts ' 28 yards long in good ore ' with 50 men employed, but the venture had closed by 1813.

Subsequently Llywernog attracted little attention until the early 1840's when the Francises were looking for ventures to promote, not least to create jobs for several unemployed members of the family. It was then held by Robert Dunkin of Llanelly and a company named Rheidol United Mines was proposed to manage the mine in association with Rhiwrugos and Nantglas, the latter two being several miles away. George Francis jnr. was to act as manager with Absalom Francis of Flintshire a visiting director*. However, it is doubtful whether much was done, for when in 1858 the Llywernog United prospectus appeared, the depth was only 30 fathoms from surface. Little output followed this later attempt though better results attended a reopening by the Clara company ; returns of ore were maintained for the next 14 years during which time a depth of 72 fathoms was reached.

The state of the mine in March 1864 was given in a report by Matthew Francis who referred to a depth of 40 fathoms with a 40 ft x 4 ft waterwheel for pumping and crushing. In order to release enough power to enable the wheel also to drive a drawing machine, Francis advised gearing down the crushing machine 2:1 - he did not record how output was to be maintained!

Though steam engines were later installed at Llywernog and Powell running costs were prohibitive and several mines in the area bandei together to construct a long leat from north of Ponterwyd, the course of which is clearly shown on the 21/2 inch Ordnance map. Full advantage wa taken by erecting a new 50 ft x 31/2 ft wheel at Llywernog which accordinj to Peter Lloyd Harvey, the founder and director of the museum, was provided by the well known firm of John Mills, Llanidloes, in 1875 Mining came to a virtual end in 1878, for attempts at revival by this Scottish Cardigan Mines Ltd. in 1907 lasted only a few years with m output resulting. As for the 50 ft wheel, after its working life ceased, this fine example survived in full view of the main road until the 1950's at a time when the history of mining was an interest shared by the very few. Those who sensed a certain symbolism in the scene will find it fitting that this of all sites has been chosen for a museum.

Most of the Llywernog ore came from the intersection of two lodes. Om of these in striking towards the main road enters the POWELL mini (SN 728808) the early history of which has already been mentioned. One of the shafts is close beside the main road, with other workings on the hill side to the south. In 1868 the mine was operating as Powell United, with a ' splendid oscillating engine' running at 55 lbs pressure for pumping, drawing and crushing.

Steam however, became merely a stand-by after construction of the new leats and erection of a 45 ft waterwheel in March 1874. The mine was then known as Powell Consolidated, with Captain Nicholas Bray in command. It finally closed in the 1890's having attained a depth of 80 fathoms, with workings on several lodes.

At various times Powell and Llywernog operated together, and the total production of the two mines amounted to 3813 tons of lead ore with 560 tons of blende.

